Evaluation Department



# Cash Transfers Contributing to Social Protection: A Synthesis of Evaluation Findings

Synthesis Report 2/2008

#### Norad

Direktoratet for utviklingssamarbeid Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation

Pb. 8034 Dep, 0030 OSLO Ruseløkkveien 26, Oslo, Norge Tlf.: 22 24 20 30 Fax: 22 24 20 31

Layout og trykk: Lobo Media AS, 2008 ISBN 978-82-7548-334-6

## Cash Transfers Contributing to Social Protection: A Synthesis of Evaluation Findings

September 2008

Espen Villanger<sup>1</sup> CMI

<sup>1</sup> Thanks to the CMI advisory team (Magnus Hatlebakk, Alf M. Jerve, Ivar Kolstad and Arne Wiig) for valuable inputs, and to Gaute Torsvik for commenting in an early phase. A special thanks to International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) and John Hoddinott for providing very useful mannuscripts which are in the pipeline for publication.

## Contents

Sumi	mary	7	
1	Introduction	9	
2	Transfer of Cash Versus In-kind	12	
3	Conditional Versus Unconditional Cash Transfers	14	
4	Universal Versus Targeted Cash Transfer Programs	19	
5	What We Know About Impact	24	
6	Can Poor Countries Afford it?	28	
7	Summary of Evaluation Findings	30	
References			

### Summary

This report has been commissioned by Norad with *the main aim* of providing an up-to-date synthesis of the findings from evaluation of cash transfer programs for social protection. The *positive experiences* with Conditional Cash Transfer programs (CCTs) in Latin America on school enrolment rates, reduced school drop-out and improved health clinic attendance have lead to the recommendation that Conditional Cash Transfers should be promoted. This may be *premature* since there is neither much knowledge about the critical factors that have led to the positive results, nor is it clear whether these programs can keep poor families in poverty traps because they create disincentives to work. Moreover, the context under which Conditional Cash Transfers have brought positive results in Latin America is very different from the context in the areas where such assistance now is planned, like in Sub-Saharan Africa.

Several *requirements* need to be in place before Conditional Cash Transfers can be considered: The public service that the Conditional Cash Transfer is conditioned upon must be functioning, safe, accessible and have to have capacity to include new participants. The administrative capacity and skills must be at the required level to handle complex procedures, and reasons for non-participation in the public services need to be investigated.

In areas suffering from *humanitarian crisis*, insufficient food supply and poor connection to the nearby markets should not be considered for cash transfer programs. If markets function, cash transfers to *vulnerable households* can help to preserve their asset base and increase their future incomes through reductions of distress renting out of land or out-migration, help households pool savings, and allow farmers to sell their crops when prices are high and to buy seeds or livestock so that they could start work again.

Different models of arranging cash transfers to *children* have broadly similar effects on poverty, and it is effective to target children to reach the poor in many developing countries. Cash transfers to the mother improve the wellbeing of her children more than cash given to men, improve her status and reduce tensions in the household. Many Conditional Cash Transfers have contributed to improved status of *women*, but more could have been achieved if gender had been included in the overall program design. The same could have been achieved in an unconditional program if designed accordingly.

*Fine-tuned means testing*, which is the most common mechanism used to curb pension spending in developing countries with non-contributory pension systems, is found to be costly and riddled with errors of inclusion and exclusion. Targeting performance may not yield relevant information about the degree of poverty reduction. Targeting can induce poverty traps where the beneficiaries do not have any incentives to improve their situation. These costs can be very high and are seldom included in the calculations on the efficiency of targeting. This implies that broad targeting and universal cash transfer programs are to be preferred from an efficiency point of view. Such programs are affordable, easier to implement and monitor and sustainable for all developing countries – it is a matter of political will.

Several implications for Norwegian Development cooperation are identified: (1) The implications of conditionality should be carefully assessed before embarking on these types of programs as they tend to exclude the most vulnerable groups. (2) One will usually get more poverty reduction for the budget by using universal and broad targeted programs. (3) Gender equality should be a part of the overall design of cash programs. (4) Securing rigorous impact evaluations of universal cash transfer programs may be important for their future popularity.

"I think these programs (Conditional Cash Transfer Programs) are as close as you can come to a magic bullet in development.... They're creating an incentive for families to invest in their own children's futures. Every decade or so, we see something that can really make a difference, and this is one of those things."

-Nancy Birdsall, Director of the Center for Global Development, in New York Times 3 January 2004.

"Anyone who believes that design choices in social protection programs – whether to apply conditions, to transfer cash or food, who to target – are purely pragmatic technical issues, with decisions based on solid empirical evidence, is missing the point. These are ideological choices..."

-Devereux and Sabates-Wheeler, Institute of Development Studies (2007)

## **1** Introduction

Cash transfers are now at the forefront in policy discussions, both as a development tool, for providing an effective social protection for vulnerable groups and as an alternative to food aid in humanitarian crises. These types of interventions have been increasingly popular among recipient governments, especially so-called Conditional Cash Transfer programs (CCTs) that condition the transfer of cash to the household on the household using some public services benefiting their children's education, nutrition and/or health. The aim is to enable the poor to invest in the human capital of their children in an effort to break the transmission of poverty from one generation to the next.

The other major type of cash transfer programs are the ones that are not conditioned upon any recipient action. These Unconditional Cash Transfer programs (UCTs) have received most attention as a substitute for food aid in emergencies, but are also implicitly discussed in the literature on CCTs, for example with respect to the discussion about the desirability of imposing conditions (i.e. conditionality) on poor and vulnerable households. The current trend of giving households cash to spend as they choose, as opposed to in-kind donations, reflects an ideological stance where one aim is to use market-oriented interventions to stimulate local markets and avoid the creation of new markets where recipients sell their in-kind donations. Moreover, cash is seen as efficient and flexible in comparison to in-kind donations (Adato and Hoddinott 2008).

An important feature of many cash transfer programs, which is shared with in-kind transfers, is that they are targeted towards poor and vulnerable people. This reflects the aims of the programs – to reduce poverty and promote social security, and it is usually argued in the literature that more can be achieved within a given budget if more resources are given to those who need it the most. Universal cash transfers are seldom developed in poor countries, except for pension schemes. In fact, cash transfers to all citizens – also known as a Basic Income Grant - do not exist anywhere in the world (Willmore 2007).<sup>1</sup> We include discussions of non-contributory pension schemes are left out since they are concepts different from the grant nature of the schemes we focus on here.<sup>2</sup>

This report has been commissioned by Norad with *the main aim* of providing an up-to-date synthesis of the findings from evaluation of cash transfer programs for social protection.<sup>3,4</sup> Since the alternative to cash transfers has been in-kind donations, we start with a comparison of these modalities. Moreover, the ToR makes a useful classification of cash transfers according to whether they are conditional or unconditional, and whether they are targeted towards particular groups or universal. We thus proceed with a comparison of the evaluation findings along these two dimensions, and then discuss what the evaluation literature can tell us about impacts of cash transfer programs. The ToR is also asking for the evidence on whether poor countries can afford these programs and on how sustainable they are. Findings on these issues are presented, before we close the report with a summary of evaluation findings. Finally, the ToR asks for the implications of the findings for Norwegian development cooperation. These are discussed when relevant, and conclusions are presented in the final section along with the other results.

<sup>1</sup> Despite its support among social scientists, including Milton Friedman, the Basic Income Grant remains to be implemented in a country, but see the journal Basic Income studies for surfacing evidence on such schemes (http://www.bepress.com/bis/). The Basic Income Earth Network is actively promoting this concept (see www.basicincome.org).

<sup>2</sup> Private cash transfers and subsidies are not included in this review.

<sup>3</sup> Improving social protection should, in this setting, be understood as reducing an individual's vulnerability and poverty. See DFID (2006) for a discussion of different definitions of social protection and for an overview of typical interventions, and the special edition of the IDS Bulletin (Farrington and Slater 2006) on social protection for a discussion of different concepts.

<sup>4</sup> In accordance with ToR, we also include the discussions in the literature on the role of cash transfers as a tool under crises and relief operation, whenever that contributes to the major discussions in this synthesis.

A factor shaping this synthesis is the lack of data on the recently introduced African cash transfer programs. A main objective for many evaluations is to present the impacts of the programs, and it would thus have been informative to compare the impacts of cash transfers across the conditional/unconditional – targeted/universal dimensions and across continents. However, the lack of data has implied that no rigorous quantitative impact analysis has been conducted on African cash transfers (Devereux et al. 2005).<sup>5</sup> Therefore, the findings from the rigorous impact evaluations of the CCTs cannot be discussed in a comparative perspective.

The recent emphasis on cash transfers and new data coming from a variety of different CCTs have triggered a range of empirical analyses of impacts of these programs. Moreover, the design of these programs was done in a way that is almost ideal for impact analysis. Many CCTs had a phasing-in of the benefits and a timely and thorough collection of household data that made rigorous assessments possible. Starting with the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) lead role in evaluating the impacts of the Mexican conditional cash transfer program (PROGRESA) in 2000, there is now a considerable literature on the impacts of such programs. While IFPRI continues to play a major role in providing sound impact analyses, the research community at the Overseas Development Institute and Institute of Development Studies at the University of Sussex are major contributors to evaluations and policy discussions<sup>6</sup>. The World Bank has in addition to its own research contributions created a Safety Nets Publication Database<sup>7</sup> with more than 1000 documents on cash transfers and related social security issues.

Cash transfers are seen to have a main role in providing what has been labeled "social protection", i.e. to reduce risk and vulnerability for the poor. During the 1990s, the term "social safety nets" was attacked, mainly due to its stigma, its political expediency, the perceived large costs and its static role in providing a minimum existence level for poor people (Devereux and Sabates-Wheeler 2007). The current use of "social protection", although very similar in practice, reflects a somewhat wider concept – one where the protection of a minimum standard also can contribute to long term development, as exemplified by Devereux and Sabates-Wheeler (2007): "The rapid rise of social protection up the development policy agenda has been startling: it can achieve bigger development objectives, such as economic growth and the MDGs." Alderman and Hoddinott (2007) concretize these links from social protection to macro indicators of development by arguing that there are five channels through which social protection schemes may increase economic growth:

- 1. social safety nets help create individual, household, and community assets;
- 2. they help households protect assets when shocks occur;
- 3. by helping households cope with risk, they permit households to use their existing resources more effectively;
- 4. they facilitate structural reforms to the economy; and
- 5. by reducing inequality, they directly raise growth rates.

Although difficult to entangle, there is evidence in favor of a positive relationship between social protection and investments in productivity and human capital (see Morley and Coady 2003, de la Briere and Rawlings 2006 and Alderman and Hoddinott 2007).

Devereux and Sabates-Wheeler (2007) summarize the debate on social protection by categorizing the proponents of social protection into two camps. The first are the ones who argue that social protection should aim to reduce risks of poor people and make them better able to handle shocks. Most poor countries are characterized by high levels of risk, while the insurance and lending markets are not functioning properly. Hence, social protection schemes must reduce the risk of these people until the markets are developed in such a way that people can handle the risks themselves. Social protection at the intermediate stage is, according to this view, an instrument for risk management that will make it easier for the people to direct their efforts in productive ways. This camp usually defends the conditionality since such obligations for the beneficiaries increase the impact on risk-reduction in the long run. The other group argues that the enormous inequality and vulnerability stems from a social

<sup>5</sup> Some conditional cash transfer programs are now under implementation and hence, the future may bring new insight into these types of interventions in African contexts.

<sup>6</sup> The ODI journals - the Journal of Disaster Studies, Policy and Management, and the Development Policy Review - published special issues in conjunction on cash transfers in 2006 (see Harvey (ed.) 2006 and Farrington and Slater (eds.) 2006).

<sup>7</sup> See the www.worldbank.org/safetynets

injustice, and that social protection is an inviolable right of citizenship and should hence not be conditioned on certain behavior of the recipient. Hence, the social protection scheme is seen as an intermediate step towards an ideal of a universal guaranteed minimum.

## 2 Transfer of Cash Versus In-kind

#### **Key features**

The key feature of cash transfer programs that distinguish it from other forms for social assistance is that the recipient is given the choice of how to manage the monetary component of the support, i.e. how to spend the money. The donor is thus not, by way of program design, concerned with the recipients' usage of the cash. In contrast, voucher schemes and in-kind transfers are usually designed so that the recipient will use the full assistance to consume some particular goods and services which are chosen by the donor.

Moreover, in-kind and voucher programs usually monitor the recipient's behavior to ensure that the intended consumption takes place and that the recipient does not trade the assistance to get other goods or services. The donors' dilemma is particularly evident in cases where the assistance is aiming for improved nutrition of the recipient population: If the recipients' taste for staples will lead them to buy less nutritious food if they get cash, or tobacco or alcohol, then the donor will get larger improvements in nutritional status with the same budget by giving them more nutritious food in-kind. However, this result is contingent upon the recipients actually consuming the in-kind assistance, and there is no reason a-priori to believe that the recipient will not trade the in-kind assistance to achieve the preferred consumption basket.

Even though cash transfers are intended to provide immediate reduction of poverty, it will usually be the case that some recipients also use some of the cash for investment purposes. Hence, a consequence of using cash instead of in-kind could be that the assistance has a higher long-term impact on poverty reduction and development and a somewhat lower impact on serving the immediate needs.

#### Key findings

The World Bank summarizes its practical experiences with unconditional cash transfers as follows (World Bank 2008):

- Once unconditional cash transfer programs are in place they tend to have a lower administrative cost than other transfer programs. In-kind transfer is more costly due to transport and storage, and UCTs does not need monitoring, tools and supervision that comes with many of the other cash transfer programs (cash-for-work, cash-for-education etc.). In India, the costs of purchasing, storing and redistributing food are at least double the value of the food received by intended beneficiaries (World Bank 2003). However, there are, to our knowledge not been any efforts to calculate the exact differences of the administrative costs between the two approaches.<sup>8</sup>
- Cash may be more tempting for dishonest program officers than in-kind donations, and hence, the World Bank (2008) points to the fact that checks and balances need to be put in place to avoid elite capture and ensure efficient use of funds.

Another and more difficult issue to assess is the suggestion that giving the recipients cash instead of in-kind assistance will have very different implications for the spill-over effects on domestic markets. It is generally recognized that handing out cash will stimulate local production and generate multiplier effects in the community much more than handing out in-kind assistance imported from abroad. Moreover, disbursing imported food in poor rural areas where the large majority is small farmers lowers agricultural prices in the area and causes a worse situation for the farmers that are able to produce a surplus (Barrett 2006). However, buying food aid from local areas with a food surplus and disbursing it to the needy instead of relying on imported food can give similar positive multiplier effects in the local

<sup>8</sup> Kebede (2006) state that in Ethiopia, importing and distributing food costs 39-46 % more than cash transfers, while purchasing local food costs to 6 - 7 % more than using cash.

community. In a review of African cash transfer schemes Devereux et al. (2005) find much anecdotal evidence of cash transfers creating positive local multiplier effects.

A literature review of cash transfers under emergencies by Harvey (2006) underlines that several considerations may be important to whether one chooses cash or kind when there is a humanitarian crisis. There is usually a food deficit in some areas under such circumstances, and there may not be functioning linkages between markets. Giving cash when the supply of food is insufficient to meet the minimum requirements of a population may only have the effect that prices are being pushed up. Hence, cash given to the poorest will redistribute food from the less poor while not solving the basic problem of increasing the supply of food to the area. *This is perhaps the most important argument in favor of in-kind donations, which typically will be most relevant in areas affected of disasters when there is not sufficient food in the nearby markets*. Giving cash when the food deficit is large will result in more people competing for the same food and as a result be less effective in mitigating the crisis as compared to (1) in-kind food assistance, or (2) a situation where there were food surpluses in domestic markets. Moreover, despite the attention to cash transfers as a tool for crisis mitigation and the increasing usage of this measure, Harvey (2006) finds that cash and vouchers are little in use under these circumstances compared to in-kind assistance.

It is important to acknowledge that poor people have a range of coping mechanisms in times of crisis. One approach is to prevent the build-down of productive assets. The poor know that natural disasters are temporary, and hence, preventing the asset base from being depleted is important for long run well being. This has the important implication that it is very difficult for a donor to decide what type of assistance to give those who suffer from natural disasters. Giving them cash may thus be the best opportunity to manage the implications of the disaster according to their own strategy. An evaluation of the "Cash for Relief Programme" in Ethiopia indicated that the cash was used to pay off debts, restore land productivity and help regenerate livelihood (Standing 2007). If the program had handed out food aid instead, it is likely that there would not have been any long-term effects of the program since most of it would probably have been consumed. Similarly, the "Cash for Herder" programs in Mongolia revived investments in assets which could regenerate livelihoods and the local economy. Hence, giving households cash transfers may help preserving their asset base and increase their future incomes for example through reductions of distress renting out of land or outmigration, help households pool savings, and allow farmers to sell their crops when prices are high and to buy seeds or livestock so that they could start work again (Standing 2007).

There is a pervasive belief that giving food aid to agricultural based households causes them to put less effort in their own plots and work less, and hence lower agricultural production and their income (i.e. the disincentive effect of food aid). There is very little evidence on this issue (see Barrett 2006 for a comprehensive review), but emerging results indicate that there is no such disincentive effect on food production (see Abdulai et al. 2005 for evidence from rural Ethiopia). Hence, a major argument against food aid is not substantiated by empirical evidence. It is important to note that the findings also suggest that there may *be no disincentive effects of social transfers to the needy in general as long as the beneficiaries do not run the risk of loosing the benefit once they improve their situation*. Hence, the wide-spread belief that social assistance might be unfavorable to the long-term wellbeing of the beneficiaries seems not to be supported.

## **3** Conditional Versus Unconditional Cash Transfers

#### **Key features**

While the intention of both types of programs is that the cash grant is to relieve immediate poverty and act as a buffer against hardship, it is only the CCT that is designed to build human capital to reduce poverty *over generations*. However, this does not imply that UCT does not have a role in long term development since it provides social protection that can be important for preserving income generating assets of the poor under times of stress.

In the long run the effectiveness of cash transfers on monetary poverty beyond the immediate one-shot effect is more dubious. Some argue that social assistance like cash transfers have purely consumption effects with no impact on productivity, but this seems not to be the case (see for example Johnstone 2004). However, one can argue that the productivity effect could be higher if the resources are used for education and training, or for direct productivity enhancing efforts like business development. But in that case the program serves other purposes since these latter projects do not have the social security functions as cash transfers have.

Another feature of the CCT is its focus on gender. These programs usually have the mother of the household as the recipient of the cash transfer as it is believed that this will have positive spillovers to the children. Moreover, gender equality is to some extent included in many of the CCT programs.

CCT might be preferable whenever the cash transfer is associated with a social stigma, especially when the stigma is so large that the eligible households consider not receiving the assistance. CCT is usually perceived to generate less stigma than UCT since the former can be seen as a social contract with the state aiming to enable the household to become independent of these types of minimum support. On the other hand, however, some poor may feel demeaned by the fact that the assistance is conditioned upon some actions that they have to take. The CCT may be perceived as a mechanism to get the poor on the right track – i.e. with the underlying assumption that the poor do not know what is good for them.

A major argument against CCT, and in favor of UCT, has been that social protection falls under the Declaration of Human Rights and hence the income grant should not be made conditional upon any action that the recipient must take (Freelander 2007). Thus, since most of the CCTs also function as social safety nets for the poor, it is argued that the conditionality of the CCTs is "morally atrocious" since a safety net for the poor ought to function also for those who are not willing or able to fulfill the requirements (Freelander 2007).

There are two basic types of conditional cash transfer programs – those mentioned above where the household is required to use some services, but in addition, there are CCTs where the beneficiary has to work or take education in order to be to be eligible, called "cash for work" or "education for work" programs. These programs are designed with an explicit screening mechanism in order to prevent those with better opportunities from getting the grant. Sometimes it is also argued that compulsory work or education will reduce disincentives arising from the cash transfer, and we return to this issue below. Moreover, since the main aim of linking the transfer to work requirements is usually to *target* a particular group of needy, we treat these schemes under the "universal versus targeting" dimension of cash transfers.

#### **Key findings**

*CCTs are not more effective in reducing immediate poverty.* One of the main questions for interventions aimed at poverty reduction is to what extent the tools are effective and efficient. However, studies of different cash transfer modalities are not conclusive. First of all, it is

important for the discussion of the impacts of cash transfers on poverty to recognize that poverty is usually measured in economic terms, either by consumption or income. Hence, if measured correctly, it is a mechanic relationship between the size of the cash transfer and the extent of immediate income poverty reduction. This implies that the efficiency of the scheme depends on administrative costs, leakage, poor targeting etc., and not on the concepts behind the design. Hence, a CCT and a UCT will, ceteris paribus, have the exact same impact on measured income poverty if the cash transfer is the same size in both schemes.<sup>9</sup> Barrientos and DeJong (2006) concludes similarly based on a review of evaluations of the impact on cash transfers on child poverty: "What is particularly interesting is that different models of arranging cash transfers to children have broadly similar effects on poverty, ...".

A second issue, and probably the reason for the lack of comparison of impacts between different cash transfer concepts, is that a given budget yields very different implications for the aims across schemes. Does it make sense to compare the impacts of CCTs and UCTs if the former has a main goal of bringing children to school to get them out of poverty when they grow up, while the latter aims to reduce immediate poverty and vulnerability? Clearly, such comparisons based on empirical findings would not give very meaningful discussions, and the literature is thus discussing which approach is most suited under different circumstances – and not whether one is more efficient than another in poverty reduction. *Effectiveness of the interventions depends to a high degree on the size of the transfers and coverage, and this is usually clearly spelt out in the literature*.

When the government conditions a cash transfer on some particular services that the recipient has to use, then there is reason to believe that the government perceives that some recipients would *not* have used these services if the transfer had been unconditional. In comparing CCT and UCT some thus argue that conditionality is paternalistic and therefore not necessarily welfare enhancing, i.e. that the CCT has a lower benefit to the recipient as compared to the UCT. However, others may argue that there are some benefits to society of the household performing the particular tasks that are not included in the household's decision, or valued differently. The empirical base is too scant for drawing firm conclusions, but it is interesting to note the review of the literature in Martinelli and Parker (2003) on the differences between social and private returns from schooling. They could not find any studies that indicated that the benefits to society - in terms of the economic value that educated people have to society - were greater than the private benefits (in terms of the economic value of education to the individual) in the educational sector. Proponents of UCT may argue that this suggests that conditioning cash transfers on education may decrease the welfare of a household in comparison to an unconditional cash transfer, with no extra economic benefits to society.

de Brauw and Hoddinott (2008) summarize the arguments of the literature - including the evaluation literature - in favor and against conditionality of the CCTs. First, from a public perspective, the government may be of the opinion that it knows better than the poor themselves what actions the poor should take to increase their wellbeing. Hence, conditioning the cash transfers of these actions would lead the poor to act in accordance with the government's prescriptions for a better life. One example could be if the household and the government have different opinions about the value of vaccinating boys contra vaccinating both boys and girls. If the households prefer to only vaccinate the boys, then a government that prefers both boys and girls to be vaccinated would condition cash transfers upon the household bringing all their children to the health clinic for vaccination. The second argument in favor of conditionality is when there are informational asymmetries between the government and the households. One example could be when low caloric intake over a long time period leads to permanent damage as measured in terms of abilities. If the household believes that the effects of poor nutrition for children only has short-term effects, while the government knows that it has permanent effects, then the there is a rationale for conditioning cash transfers upon the poor household picking up nutritional additives.

*CCTs may be good for the child, but negative for the household's economy.* The CCTs may not only have positive effects as seen from the public perspective. From a private view point, there may be benefits from a CCT if it changes the distribution of resources within the household relative to the unconditional transfers. Most obviously, if the child is enrolled into

<sup>9</sup> The recipients may adapt differently, though. CCT may induce the household to withdraw their children from work and send them to school. This will reduce the impact of the cash transfer on income poverty.

school because of the conditionality, then the human capital of the child is relatively improved at the expense of the alternative cost of having the child at school (for example to have the child working). In many poor countries with low school enrolment rates the children that do not attend school usually provide the household with important income from different types of work. Hence, in the conditional program the household that prefer having their children at work will have less income but higher human capital as compared to the unconditional program.

*Cash to the mother improves her status, and her children's wellbeing.* Another effect that changes the intra-household allocation is the design of the CCT where the cash is disbursed to the mother of the household with the aim of improving her bargaining power within the household and having additional positive impacts on the children's wellbeing. It is found that gender equality is an objective of most CCT programs – but with different emphasis (Adato and Roopnaraine 2008). Giving the cash to the mother was motivated in part by research indicating that income controlled by women was more likely than income controlled by men to translate into higher household food expenditure, caloric intake, and expenditures on health and education (see for example Hoddinott and Haddad 1995). The female recipients were often given a strong message that they should decide themselves about how to spend the cash, and not give it to their male partner. Some CCTs also were more active in discouraging discrimination against girls schooling by giving the household a higher cash transfer for girls' schooling than for boys' schooling.

However, it is important to note that the result that resources given to the mother in the household has positive spillovers to the children of the household, and in particular girls, is a *general result* not linked to conditionality of the cash transfer. Unconditional cash transfers given to the mother shows similar results (Haddad et al. 1997, Duflo 2003 and Charvalo 2000). In addition, it is important to recognize that more impact can be achieved with respect to increased child welfare if the conditional or unconditional cash transfer program is specifically designed for that purpose.

Cash transfers have been shown to be a powerful tool for improving the status of women. However, the programs could have been much more effective in terms of gender equality if gender issues had been included in the overall program design and followed up during implementation. As women's rights is one of the major aims for Norwegian development cooperation, and an area where Norway claims to have comparative advantage (Bistandsaktuelt 04/2008)<sup>10</sup>, this is certainly an area where Norway can contribute in future designs of cash transfer projects.

*Do CCTs increase the burden on women?* A program design of the CCTs that specifically addressed women was that health services for this group were emphasized, and that the educational component on health and nutrition was directed towards the females. However, these design features can be viewed in two ways – both as promoting gender equality and the opposite – to levy an even larger work load on the shoulders of the mothers. The latter perspective stems from the fact that it is usually the mother who bears the burden of the conditionality of the CCT – she is the one that has to spend time on follow the children to the health clinic, attend community meetings and participate at the workshops – in addition to the existing work load (Molyneaux 2007). Finally, it is noted that the CCT feature of giving the cash to the women, and her time-use in the program, could increase tensions with male partners. The evidence, however, indicate that it more often reduced such tensions by providing more resources to the household (Adato and Roopnaraine 2008).

*Administrative costs vary a lot.* A practical implication of the conditionality, and a key difference between CCT and UCT, is that conditional programs require a monitoring system to certify that the recipient is actually taking the actions required to get the grant. These systems can take a relatively large portion of the grant budget, and make the CCT program even more complex, like in the case where one has to ascertain whether the child of the recipient actually attends school, or be a minor share of the costs, like in the case where the health administration hands out the cash after completed medical examination. Caldes et al. (2006) find that the costs of monitoring the conditionality of the PROGRESA program

<sup>10</sup> Available at http://www.bistandsaktuelt.no/default.asp?ID=5006&t=a (in Norwegian).

represents around 18 % of the administrative costs, or 2 % of the total program costs, while they estimate the cost of monitoring in Honduras to be 9 percent of the administrative costs and 3 percent in Nicaragua. The differences in monitoring costs reflect the intensity with which the designers and implementers of the programs have wished to ascertain whether beneficiaries actually comply with the conditions. Hence, the costs can be adjusted in line with the perceived need for monitoring.

Adato and Hoddinott (2007) argues that start-up costs of identifying beneficiaries, establishing mechanisms for delivering the benefits and monitoring and evaluating the performance is similar to all social programs. Moreover, even though the administrative cost of PROGRESA was relatively high in the first year, USD 1.34 for every dollar spent on transfers to beneficiaries, this was reduced to five cents by the third year of operation. Hence, administrative costs went from 134 percent to 5 percent in three years, which indicates that the long-term administrative costs may not be high. *In a careful assessment of total costs of different social protection programs in Latin America, Caldes et al. (2008) find that the total costs of the CCTs are not higher than unconditional programs.* 

An implicit challenge for assistance in many forms is the opportunity for the administrators to pocket some of the resources. Corruption may be more of a problem for CCT as compared to UCT as the conditionality will require a bureaucrat to certify that the recipient has fulfilled the requirement before the cash is disbursed. Hence, a corrupt bureaucrat could charge money for this certification, while this particular bureaucratic procedure is eliminated in the UCT programs. Evidence indicates that more bureaucracy and regulations is associated with more corruption and is hence a program feature that one would try to minimize in countries where corruption is a problem. Building a system that prevents corruption in CCTs adds to the administrative costs of these programs.

*CCTs may exclude the most vulnerable.* An important drawback of applying conditionality is that if it is too difficult for the intended beneficiaries to comply with the requirements, then they will be excluded from the program. Hence, the program will exclude mothers who are not able to get to the clinic due to long distance of travel, chronic illness or because other domestic responsibilities make health clinic attendance impossible. As the CCTs are targeted towards the poor, this feature of exclusion of those who are not able to comply with the conditions may hit the poorest and most vulnerable the most. Such exclusion would not be the case under the unconditional cash transfer programs.

Although unconditional cash transfers can provide the same results as CCT with respect to human capital investment and thus reduce poverty in the long run – for example if families send their children to school because the unconditional grant made it affordable – it is suggested that heterogeneity in preferences among recipient parents to imply that CCT is more effective in making recipients invest in human capital than UCT. In other words, some parents that chose not to send their children to school or attend the health clinic before the UCT would continue this prioritization after the UTC as well (Morley and Coady 2003).

Conditional or unconditional cash transfers? If cash transfers are chosen as the most appropriate tool, then the policymaker has to decide whether to go for a conditional or unconditional program. A virtue of CCTs is that many of them have been able to induce households to send their children to school and make them stay in school, and to increase the nutritional status of the children (Adato and Hoddinott 2008). However, a cash transfer program conditional on schooling makes little sense if the enrollment rate is close to 100%, so these programs are only relevant if there are low participation rates in the service considered. Moreover, it is necessary that these public services are actually in place and functioning, have capacity to receive more users, that they are within a reasonable distance from the beneficiaries, and that traveling and usage of the service is safe. Hence, there must be schools and health clinics that operate satisfactorily and with a minimum coverage, which is not the case in many areas in the poorest countries. This point, together with the administrative complexity, is of major importance for the probability of having success for CCTs in Africa. An evaluation of the experiences with conditional and unconditional cash transfers in Kenya is in the pipeline and will probably be able to shed light on the importance of these challenges (Adato and Hoddinott 2007).

*Why is there a low utilization of the public services*? However, before turning to a CCT, one should assess whether the low utilization of the services stem from inadequate quality or capacity of the actual public service, a task that has been devoted too little attention by the implementing agencies (Adato and Hoddinott 2008). If the children are not at school because the schools are overcrowded with no extra capacity, are unsafe for children or too far away, or if parents chose not to visit clinics because there are no health personnel present there, then there is reason to start the efforts by solving such quality and capacity problems. After solving those issues and making the target group aware of the improvements, one can assess whether conditionality is required to improve enrolment rates and clinic attendance.

An important question is to what extent there are barriers within the household against using the education, health and nutrition services provided. It is illustrative for the point to note the experience in Latin America that suggest that conditionality may be appropriate to raise enrolment rates for girls when there are strong cultural barrier against educating girls – or other types of discrimination against girls schooling. Another case where conditionality may be useful is when the children have to work to contribute to a minimum subsistence for the household. In that case there may be strong forces preventing the children from attending schools, and any compulsory-schooling-approach would be difficult to enforce. CCTs designed to give the household the required compensation may have a greater success in increasing school attendance.

It is also important to note that the implementing agencies need to have the capacity and competence to handle the CCT, including the effort to monitor whether the reason for not complying with the conditions among defaulters stem from eventualities beyond their control. If some do not send their children to school because discrimination does not allow them to do so (social exclusion, ethnic discrimination, caste etc.) then they will be punished in a CCT since they will be excluded from the program.

The evidence we present in section 4 and 5 below indicates that the CCT have been effective. However, that does not imply that an identical but unconditional program would not have brought similar results. Moreover, if schooling is seen as necessary, then compulsory schooling regulation may be more appropriate than offering the parents a "carrot" and leaving the decision to them. In this case the cash should be given unconditionally. Two studies have been carried out on the role of conditionality, and both indicate that conditionality may be important in explaining the positive results (see Schady and Araujo 2006 and de Brauw and Hoddinott 2007).

## 4 Universal Versus Targeted Cash Transfer Programs

#### **Key features**

Reducing poverty and achieving a more equal society, both of which are important aims of Norwegian development cooperation, implies that some measures have to be taken to lift the poor. One approach is through universal arrangements that are particularly important to the poor, like free universal primary and secondary education, scholarships for all, common basic health care programs and rural development. Such programs are similar to those of the Nordic welfare states, which have been important in minimizing the number of people who fall behind. A different approach, which was also applied by the welfare states in early times during their build-up, is to target the resources towards the poor. The main argument used in favor of targeting is that a given budget will probably help the needy more if confined to this group. In practice, there can be substantial costs of targeting which reduces the budget, so whether targeting helps the needy more is an empirical question that we will return to below.

The targeting of cash transfers aims to reach *all* members of a particular group of designated beneficiaries, *and* to avoid others outside this group to be able to acquire support. Hence, pension systems are often reserved for those who have been working and earning the right for a pension, or all people above a certain age, social assistance may be solely for those who classify as poor according to some poverty line, and child benefits may be reserved children below a certain age, and sometimes reserved only for the poorest segment of families, and so on.

Using targeting in poor countries is based on some principles that are worth considering:

- The poorest will benefit more than the affluent from a given transfer, and the returns to society in terms of aggregated wellbeing of the population will be higher by favoring the poor (confer with the above discussion of implications of social protection on growth). Hence, achieving the most welfare for the entire population implies to use the whole assistance-budget for the poorest segment.
- Targeting is costly in terms of direct administrative costs, in terms of disincentive effects and indirectly by imposing different kinds of requirements for the targeted beneficiary. These costs can be so large that a better targeted program may actually be *less* cost efficient than a less targeted program, i.e. one will have less poverty reduction by a finer targeted program than a less targeted program within the same budget (Ravallion 2007).
- Targeting is often associated with social stigma, and hence, if there are no extra gains in terms of welfare for the poor of targeting, then universal or broad targeted schemes should be the standard.

#### **Key findings**

*Types of targeting.* When the particular group who is supposed to benefit from the program is identified, the program designer has to assess to what extent the targeting mechanism should rely on administrative management or on "self-targeting". "Self-targeting" implies that the design of the program is constructed so that the target group chooses on their own basis to join the program, while those who are not eligible chooses to refrain from participation.

A main vehicle for targeting cash transfers has been to condition the benefit upon some work requirement, i.e. "cash-for-work", "education-for-work" and similar types of programs. By giving the recipient a small amount of cash upon completion of some clearly defined and monitored task like digging a ditch or attending a course, many people who would be interested in having the benefit but have a higher wage working elsewhere would abstain from the program. Hence, the targeting mechanism secures that those better off select not to enter the program, while the needy will choose to enter. A main challenge is that many people who are equally needy as those who enter the scheme, are, for some reason or another, not able to work or come to the course and hence excluded from the program.

Imposing work requirements for beneficiaries may not only stem from targeting-motives, but also as a response to concerns about disincentives to work. On the other hand, if the beneficiaries see the cash-for-work as better that working on their own agricultural plots, then the scheme could actually divert effort away from productive investments in their own agriculture and towards the work-component of the cash program.

The other method usually applied for selecting the particular beneficiaries in the target group is to choose people from particular geographical areas with high concentration of people in that group and/or to base the eligibility on some measurable criteria. These criteria could be landlessness, unemployment, poverty in terms of income and/or assets, orphanage etc. A main challenge for using many of these targeting criteria is that it can induce the beneficiary to maintain status quo.

Several developing countries have universal old age pension schemes. There are very few universal broad targeted cash transfer programs in developing countries. Exceptions are universal non-contributory social old age pension schemes, where Nepal, Mauritius, Bolivia, Samoa, Brunei, Kosovo, Mexico city, Namibia and Botswana have systems where all elderly receive a pension with no tests or requirements other than citizenship, residence and age (Willmore 2007). However, several other developing countries have similar pension schemes that are targeted towards the poorest group of elderly by using a *means test* – i.e. elderly citizens in these countries receive a pension if their income and/or wealth are below a certain threshold (see Willmore 2007 for an overview of these countries). Thus, the aim of the means test is to support only the neediest, or, as in the case of the broad and generous system in South Africa, to exclude the most affluent. None of these non-contributory schemes have been evaluated in a rigorous manner (Devereux et al. 2005), but some high quality evaluations have surfaced, especially on the South African pension system.

Willmore (2007) provide an overview of the structures of different pension systems in developing countries, and presents some of the experiences on the different pension models. *One important conclusion is that if an aim of the pension system is to prevent old aged to fall into poverty once they are no longer able to work, then non-contributory systems must be the standard.* The reason is that most of the poor are never in a position to contribute to a pension system and hence will be excluded from contributory schemes. This is particularly the case for workers in the informal sector, for farmers and for women – groups which add up to the majority of workers in most of the poorest countries.

Evaluations of the broad targeted South African pension scheme find that it is "a significant source of income, with definite redistributive effects; they are a reliable source of income, which leads to household security; they are the basis of credit facilities in local markets, further contributing to food security; they deliver cash into remote areas where no other institutions do; they are gender sensitive toward women; and they reach rural areas as few other services do" (Ardington and Lund, 1994). Moreover, Case (2001) and Lloyd-Sherlock (2000) find that this pension system has directly improved the health and life expectancy of the beneficiaries. However, if the aim is to keep the old aged person out of poverty, it is important to note the findings that other family members reduce their economic support to the old person once old age pensions are introduced (Cox et al. 2006). Hence, the elderly will not benefit fully from the pensions, and it is found family support can be reduced on average by as much as 37 cents for every dollar in pension. Hence, pensions should be set at a higher level than what would be indicated from covering the gap between old persons' income and the national poverty lines. Adding to the challenge of reducing old-age poverty, it is also found that the old aged are often living in extended families and shares their pension with the other family members.

Another finding is that a flat rate universal non-contributory pension scheme that is not means tested is the most cost-effective arrangement (Willmore 2007). It is also well suited for developing countries since it is easy to administer, there are no demanding and costly operation to determine eligibility and it is transparent and easy to understand which reduces the risk of corruption. Means testing, which is the most common mechanism used to curb pension spending in developing countries with non-contributory pension systems, is found to be costly and riddled with errors of inclusion and exclusion: A large share of the poor and eligible people do not receive pension, while rich and non-eligible receive a large share of the total (Willmore 2007).

*Reaching all the eligible elderly in poor countries where the administrative capacity is weak is feasible, although it can be challenging - especially in rural areas.* The evidence indicates that even in Nepal, which suffered from armed conflict for more than a decade until November 2006, the coverage rate was 77 % of the age-qualified population measured during the civil war. Other reasons for not reaching all the eligible in Nepal are difficulties in establishing proof of age, a slow process of approving applications, difficulties in reaching remote areas of the country, and wealthy elders that are not interested in applying for a pension (Palacios and Rajan, 2004). Moreover, in Bolivia and Mauritius, all eligible are reached, and a range of other developing countries have achieved coverage rates of between 80 and 100 % (Willmore 2007).

*Willmore (2007) finds that some very poor developing countries have implemented universal non-contributory pension schemes.* One of the world's poorest countries in the world, Nepal, and the poorest country in South America, Bolivia, have both provided this type of pensions to *all* elderly residents since mid 1990s. Six other developing countries also have universal systems, plus Mexico City, and these governments spend between 0.1 % of GDP in Nepal and 1.7 % in Mauritius. These countries also have other cash transfer programs directed towards disabled, widows, orphans and others.

A general draw-back of universal and broad coverage systems is that they can be expensive since all or a large share of citizens will get the benefit. This is also the case with universal pension systems even though the evidence indicates that even the poorest countries can afford it. Many governments with non-contributory schemes have implemented several arrangements to reduce the fiscal burden: (1) requirements of lengthy residence in the country - 40 - 50 years – in order to qualify for pension, (2) reduce pension with earned income after eligibility age for example through taxation of pensions, and (3) means test. Developing countries generally rely on the means test for curbing expenditures.

*Targeting performance overshadows poverty reduction.* The success in means testing and subsequently, in reaching the target group, is called "targeting performance". Targeting performance has been highlighted as an important indicator of program success, despite the fact that it can be completely uninformative about whether the program achieves its aims (Ravallion 2007). To illustrate the point, assume that a fine-targeted program reaches 90 % of the poor, but that the administrative costs of identifying the poor in an exact manner takes 50 % of the total program budget. If a cruder targeting would reach 80% of the poor but take 10 % of the budget in administrative costs, the former targeting scheme would be deemed better than the first if targeting performance is used as an indicator of program success. Using cost effectiveness as a criterion for program success would give the opposite result – the latter program is, ceteris paribus, able to provide more resources to the poor than the former.

Despite the warnings in the literature that better targeting need not imply that the program will reduce poverty more (Besley and Kanbur 1993 and van de Walle 1998), fine-tuned targeting of cash transfers has become increasingly popular among donors and recipient governments. This trend has primarily come as a component built into the CCTs and as an alternative to in-kind donations in emergency relief operations, but also as a general measure intended to get the most impact of the scarce resources devoted to assisting needy people. The Zambian cash transfer scheme that targeted households with poor income generating capacity is one example of a program where the argument of getting more out of the resources is used (for details about the pilot, see Schubert and Goldberg 2004). Devereux et al. (2005) present an overview of African unconditional cash transfer schemes, and many of these are targeted towards the most destitute groups like vulnerable children, orphans and disabled, but also to stabilize post conflict situations through cash transfers to demobilized soldiers. *A common feature of these programs is that they usually reach very few beneficiaries in comparison to the actual size of the group.* 

The practical experiences with other types of social assistance have also contributed to the up-swing in the interest in designing targeting mechanisms. Group-based programs where group-members would play a key role in using the assistance typically did not perform well in

part because better-resourced people were more likely to form groups and receive the assistance (Farrington et al. 2006 and Adato and Hoddinott 2008). In Latin America, several social assistance programs were found to be benefiting some who needed it, but even more people who were not needy (Levy 2006). Hence, a debate was created on how to improve the targeting mechanisms, while the issue of how to improve the impact on the program with respect to poverty reduction received much less attention.

Ravallion (2007) presents a thorough study of different targeting efforts within a cash transfer program aiming to reduce urban poverty in China – the Chinese "Minimum Livelihood Guarantee Scheme". The program aims to bring all urban households above a particular poverty line, which is set by each municipal authority. By 2003, 22 million people were covered, representing 6 % of urban households in China. Although ambitious, the program is on the aggregate only able to reduce the gap between the incomes of the poor and the poverty lines with only 12 percent (i.e. adding the missing 88 percent could eliminate urban poverty). Looking only at the participants of the program, however, it is basically a success in reducing poverty: The poverty rate is 45 % with the cash transfers, while it would have been 57 % without these transfers. In addition, many of those below the poverty line have got increased incomes, albeit not enough to get above the line.<sup>11</sup> However, Ravallion finds that the degree of targeting does not explain the success and failure of reducing poverty across cities. *He finds that cities that did a good job in excluding non-poor from their program tended to do less well in reducing poverty, which illustrates the point that targeting performance may not yield relevant information about program performance.* 

A major cost of targeting is that the poor will be punished for escaping poverty since they no longer will be eligible for the support if they are able to climb above the program threshold. Moreover, the benefit is a stable income while the income from a job is uncertain in that wages can vary and employment can be terminated. A response to reducing risk is to continue with the benefits and decline to work. In essence, this is a situation where the targeting mechanism creates a poverty trap where people have no incentives to work harder to get out of poverty. *Ravallion (2007) finds that in the Chinese social assistance program there were no incentives for the beneficiaries to work since the benefit would be reduced with the same amount as the income from working*. Although such disincentives to work may imply huge costs of targeting, these are seldom included in the discussion of costs of targeting (see for example Medeiros, Britto and Soares 2008).

The CCTs use a range of targeting mechanisms. Since PROGRESA was the first CCT program and has been copied in a range of other Latin American countries, we use this program to exemplify the targeting mechanisms of these programs. The targeting process of PROGRESA was different in rural and urban areas, and in rural areas a rather advanced three-step procedure was applied. First, there was a selection process based on geography where poorer rural areas were selected. Then income and a number of household characteristics were used to classify the households into poor and non-poor, which in turn determined eligibility for program participation. The third step was then to publish the list of households eligible for the program, and then allow community leaders to express their reservations against households that they perceive to be non-poor. This, in turn, may result in the transfer of these households into the non-eligible group (Parker et al. 2008 p. 3977).

The later inclusion of urban areas led to a targeting that included an element of self-selection. Administrative offices were set up in the poorest urban areas and the individuals had to contact these to apply for participation in the PROGRESA program. The PROGRESA administration would then assess the applicant according to her socio-economic characteristics along the same dimensions as in the rural areas. A very interesting finding important for the discussion of targeting versus non-targeting is that the self-selection component implicit in the urban targeting of the PROGRESA program has the effect that many eligible households do not apply for program participation. *Thus, there may be reason to believe that the eagerness to target implies that the program miss many of the needy.* 

<sup>11</sup> The reason for the much lower impact on poverty reduction at the target population as a whole, only reducing the headcount rate in urban areas in the study from 7.7 % to 7.3 % is that the program does only reach a quarter of the urban poor.

A similar issue is whether the cash transfers are reaching the most vulnerable groups. The literature indicates that well planned and implemented cash transfer schemes broadly reach the intended beneficiaries. So if the most vulnerable are in the target group, then a large share of this group will usually be reached (Devereux et al. 2005). However, many cash transfer programs do not reach the most vulnerable by design. "Cash for work"-schemes excludes those who cannot work, cash transfer programs conditioning upon sending the children to school exclude households without children and orphan care grants may exclude the poorest children. Hence, to what extent the most vulnerable groups are reached through cash transfer programs depends on the intentions of the program, degree of universality and on the efficiency and effectiveness of the implementation.

An assessment of a cash-for-work program in southern Somalia undertaken by Mattinen and Ogden (2006) illustrates a much more cost effective approach to targeting, and also shows how cash transfers can contribute towards building the productive assets of the poor. The program was targeted to one of the poorest and most vulnerable rural area in Somalia, and then targeted towards those households with the lowest asset bases according to a wealth ranking criteria where ownership of livestock was important. Since assets are more easily monitored than income, this approach did not require fewer resources than more fine-tuned targeting. The work requirement for the eligible households was to contribute to the rehabilitation of water catchments in 31 villages, which was successfully accomplished.

The rehabilitation of the water catchments was successfully accomplished. It is interesting to note the beneficiaries' use of the cash in different periods during a year. In the low season, also called the hunger period, 33 percent of the cash went to buy food, while 38 % where used to service debt, 8 to buy seeds and 5 to animals. After the harvest, however, 18 percent was used to buy food while debt servicing was approximately the same. More interesting is that 28-29 percent was used to buy livestock. Hence, poor rural households in a drought-struck area uses a third of the cash in the harvest seasons to buy assets that can increase their incomes in the future. Furthermore, by comparing program villages with non-program villages, and they harvested 22 percent more. *Hence, the cash component of the program seems not only to contribute to the immediate social security of the beneficiaries, but also to improve their abilities to increase their future income both through more planting and better harvesting and through a higher stock of animals. However, the methodology behind these findings does not qualify as sound impact evaluations, so no firm conclusions should be drawn.* 

## 5 What We Know about Impact

The CCTs in Latin America have been evaluated rigorously by sound impact evaluation approaches. Nevertheless, it is challenging to assess some of the main aims of these programs – in particular the aim of reducing intergenerational poverty since this will only be evident after the children have become adults. Moreover, the conditionality implies that the impacts of the CCTs need not be related to the monetary input.

#### **Background and program features**

The first and most studied conditional cash transfer program is the *Programa Nacional de Educación, Salud y Alimentación* (PROGRESA) that was introduced by the Government of Mexico in 1997. The program was renamed to Oportunidades and expanded to urban areas when Vincente Fox became the President of Mexico in 2000. As mentioned, most CCTs follow the main design principles of PROGRESA, and hence, we describe this program in more detail before the differences with the other programs are noted.

From the start, PROGRESA aimed at improving the educational, health and nutritional status of poor rural families, particularly children and their mothers. Households eligible for the program were selected from rural communities with less than 2500 inhabitants, and among those, the poorest were selected based on household characteristics indicative of the poverty level of the families. Thus, the targeting was both geographically and according to poverty-indicators at the household level, which is a principle also applied by the other CCTs in this review. By mid 2007, PROGRESA reached more than 5 million families in 86.000 localities in all of Mexico's 31 states. The rural focus is underlined by the fact that approximately 40 % of the rural households were included in the program at that time, which corresponded to one ninth of all families in Mexico (Maluccio and Flores 2008).

The PROGRESA consists of three major components:

- Scholarships conditioned upon the children attending school (the beca)
- Money for school supplies
- Cash transfer for the intention of buying food (the *alimento*)

The scholarships were conditioned on two components. The first was that the school-aged children in grade 3 and above had to have an attendance rate of at least 85 %, while the second condition was that the parents had to show up at monthly meetings (called *platicas*). The cash transfer was handed out every second month to those who were qualified based on the monitored results, and were intended to be used for increased consumption of the receiving family. However, it is interesting to note that this was just a stated aim – there was no monitoring or attempts to control the actual spending of the money.

Maluccio and Flores (2005) provide a particularly important rigorous quantitative evaluation of the Nicaraguan *Red de Proteccion Social* (RPS) – "*Social Safety Net*"- which was modeled after PROGRESA and implemented in 2000. Their study is important because it is one of few that evaluate a CCT in a low-income country. Nicaragua had an income per capita of USD 500 in 2001, and around half of the population was defined as poor (Handa and Davis 2006). Hence, it compares to the average SSA country in terms of GDP and poverty, although such simplistic comparisons must not be used for drawing any conclusions. What is interesting is that a very poor country can handle the implementation of a rather complex and demanding program. The lesson from Nicaragua is that, despite the initial skepticism, the CCT proved to deliver results on a range of the output indicators. Important for other low income countries, however, is that the RPS was not simply copied from PROGRESA, although most of the basic features of PROGRESA mentioned above were present in the Nicaraguan program. Two important differences were that the target population for school transfers was different from

that used in PROGRESA, and the health-care supply was provided by government-contracted NGOs instead of the usual approach through the Ministry of Health (Maluccio and Flores 2005).

#### Inputs in the CCTs

The size of the average transfer ranged from 10 percent of the average household consumption in Honduras to 30 percent in Bolivia. In percent of the poverty line, the average transfer amounted to between 8 percent in Honduras to 23 percent in Mexico. Hence, depending on the severity of poverty (i.e., how far from the poverty line the households are), these figures suggest that the CCTs would probably have a substantial effect on immediate income poverty. Table 1 below gives the details of the monetary inputs.

Table	1.	Monetary	inputs
-------	----	----------	--------

Country Program	Monthly monetary benefits (USD)	Average monthly transfer (USD)	Average transfer as % of poverty line	Average transfer as percent of average household consumption
Brazil Bolsa Escola Bolsa Familia	\$6-9 per child \$18 per extremely poor family,; \$5 per child up to 3 children	\$24	12 (IPEA poverty line)	n.a.
Columbia Familias	\$20 per family; 6\$ per child in primary school, \$12 per child in secondary	\$50	n.a.	30
Honduras PRAF I	\$4 per family; \$5 per child	\$17	8	10
Mexico PROGRESA	\$13 per family; \$8-17 per child pri- mary; \$25-32 per child secondary; one-time grant \$12-22 per child for supplies	\$20	23	25
Nicaragua RPS I	\$18 per family; additional \$9 per family with a school-age child; \$20 once a year per child for school supplies	\$25	18	20

Sources: Handa and Davis (2006).

## Outputs: Impressive increases in school enrolment (and reduced dropout) and health clinic attendance

It is important to distinguish between the outputs and the impacts of the program. The former is typically referring to the number of children enrolled in school, the number of children vaccinated number of children included in school feeding etc. Impacts are the results of the program measured by indicators of wellbeing, like for example knowledge, illness and stunting. The difference is thus of major importance since there can be schooling where the pupils are not learning, there can be successful vaccinations where the vaccinated get ill anyway, and the school feeding may lead parents to lower the school children's ration of food at home so that stunting is continuing as before.

It is evident that the main outputs from the programs when it comes to school enrolment rates and attendance is rather impressive. However, it is interesting to note that there seems to be a large potential to increase the impacts of these programs. Behrman and Parker (2008) show that the enrolment impact of PROGRESA could be improved by 25 to 40 percent, where an important measure would be to ensure that more children were able to transit from primary to secondary school.

Table 2. Average outputs

Country Program	Mexico PROGRESA	<b>Nicaragua</b> RPS	<b>Columbia</b> Familias	<b>Brazil</b> Bolsa Escola/ Alimentacao	Honduras PRAF II
School enrolment	+ 6 percentage pints for boys + 9 percentage points for girls	+ 13 percentage points (+ 25 p.p. for the poorest)	No effect	Increase	+ 1-2 %
Years of education completed	+ 10 % (+ 0.7 years)	+ 25 % (+ 0.8 years)	n.a.	n.a.	Small increase
Health clinic attendance	+ 18 %	+ 16 percentage points	Increase	Increase	+ 15-21 %
Vaccination	Increased	?12	Increase	No impact	Pentavalent: + 7-9 percentage points Measles: no impact Tetanus: no impact

Sources: Morley and Coady (2003), Maluccio and Flores (2005) and Handa and Davis (2006).

#### Impacts

*The general finding is that many, but not all, CCT programs have been successful in improving health, nutrition and food consumption.* There are, however, a number of areas where the programs do not achieve their aims, in particular for health impacts and educational attainment (Adato and Hoddinott 2008). The main impacts of the CCTs found from rigorous impact evaluations are summarized in Adato and Hoddinott 2007, and several of the results reported here are taken from that overview. For a review of the findings of the impacts of CCTs on poverty and consumption, see Morley and Coady (2003). Table 3 below presents the main impacts.

Table	3.	Impacts
10000	•••	impacts

Country Program	Mexico PROGRESA	Nicaragua RPS	<b>Brazil</b> Familias	Honduras PRAF II	Columbia
Per capita income	Poverty headcount ratio: - 17%	+18% +30% (poorest)	n.a	n.a.	n.a.
Cognitive achieve- ments	Limited	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Caloric acquisition (poorest tertile)	+ 5.6 %	+ 12.7 %	n.a.	+ 6.9 %	n.a.
Nutrition	Improved	Improved	No impact	No impact	n.a.
Anemia	Reduced	No impact	n.a.	No impact	n.a.
Stunted children	-10 percentage points	-5.5 percentage points	n.a.	n.a.	-7 percentage points
Working children	No impact	-6%	No impact	n.a	No impact
Illness (chil- dren)	-12 %	n.a.	No impact	No impact	n.a.

Sources: Maluccio and Flores (2005), Handa and Davis (2006)

There seems to be positive effects on nutrition from the CCT, although the exact mechanism through which the program affects behavior is not known. The most used indicator of long-

<sup>12</sup> Vaccination rates climbed 30 percentage points in the RPS areas, but that happened also in the control areas where RPS was not implemented. Hence, the increased vaccination in the non-RPS areas used for control is probably a spillover effect since the vaccination rate decreased in rural areas that were not affected by the RPS at all (neither a treatment nor a control area).

term nutritional status, child height for age, improved under the CCT in Mexico, Columbia and Nicaragua. Hence, stunting was reduced by 10, 7 and 5.5 percentage points, respectively. The results may come from the improvements in income that the recipient families' experience, which enables them to buy more nutritious food, from the nutritional information distributed during the meetings at the health clinics, and from the nutritional supplements that were handed out to the program families.

It is also interesting to inquire into the reasons for why the programs in Brazil and Honduras did not impact on long-term nutritional status of the children. In Brazil, anecdotal evidence suggested that there were a perception among mothers that they would lose the program support if their children gained weight. Hence, it illustrates the importance of having transparent and clear criteria for allocating benefits and to make sure that the program does not create perverse incentives. A related problem was encountered for the iron-supplement component in Nicaragua. Although mothers received the supplement, they did not give it to their children in the belief that it would be bad for their stomach and teeth. Hence, no effect was measured on anemia rates in Nicaragua, while the same type of intervention worked well in Mexico with substantially lower anemia rates among the program children. The point seems thus to be that the participants needs to be informed about the program and the likely effects in a credible manner. Another reason explains the lack of results on stunting in Honduras –here it was due to implementation problems with the program.

Many of the CCTs have important positive implications for gender relations, particularly in countries where girls have been discriminated against with respect to schooling. Firstly, the cash grant is usually given to the mother of the household, and secondly, the programs implicitly or explicitly address the discrimination against girls in education and in some health and nutrition issues. Findings from Mexico and Nicaragua indicate that this has led to reduced tensions in the household, and where the CCT has organized meetings, committees and workshops, the women has reported increased self-confidence. Moreover, discrimination against educating girls has been reduced through the CCT. It is found, both in Mexico and in Nicaragua, that the programs are associated with improved attitudes towards educating girls, and increased enrolment rates for girls. However, a common finding is that the programs are found to make much less out of the positive opportunities to promote gender equality in the implementation, and that there has been little attention towards reducing negative implications of the CCTs on gender relations (see Adato and Roopnaraine 2008 for a comprehensive review of the issues).

There is, unfortunately, not very much evidence on the impacts of the CCTs on the cognitive achievements of the children. The single study that addresses this question finds that there have been limited impacts of the PROGRESA. Although one study is to scarce to draw any implications from, this area should be followed up since a major aim of making the children attend school, and graduate, is to increase their skills. An important task for donors could be to assist in ensuring that the CCTs actually result in improved cognitive achievements. Many of the donors have vast experience of testing cognitive achievements in their own country, and hence, many of these lessons could be applied to investigate how to improve the impacts of the CCTs along this dimension. Moreover, the next generation of programs should also include a design to ensure that the children in the programs are actually learning more when they stay longer in school.

Finally, several evaluations point to indirect unintended effects of the CCTs, including changes in attitudes and intra-household decision-making (PROGRESA) discussed above, spillover effects on non-beneficiaries, reduced international migration in the short term and spending on productive activities that has the potential for generating domino-effects in the local economy (Handa and Davis 2006). Moreover, the cash transfer is found to have an important risk-coping role in Nicaragua and Mexico in times of crisis.

### 6 Can Poor Countries Afford It?

An important question is to what degree low and middle income countries can afford cash transfer schemes, and how they may be financed. It may be illustrative to note that the child benefit in Norway, which is now in practice given to all children, was introduced when the country was one of the poorest in Europe, in 1946. At that time, it was given only to single mothers, which was a very small group. Hence, irrespective of the discussion about whether benefits should be universal, it may be worthwhile for countries with low administrative capacity and scarce resources to start with simple targeted programs with modest benefits, and then increase coverage and generosity. Several developing countries are now leading the way in illustrating in practice that cash programs are affordable. South Africa's cash transfer program has now 10 million recipients, while Kenya, Zambia and Malawi has entered partnerships with international donors to scale up cash transfer programs that aim to reach hundreds of thousands of recipients (Adato and Basset 2007).

It is evident that the costs of cash transfer programs are small in comparison with the sums spent on the non-poor. Most energy subsidies go disproportionally in favor of the more affluent households, a feature which is shared with many pension schemes. PROGRESA in Mexico that covers 5 million of the poorest households costs 0.4 percent of GDP (Adato and Hoddinott 2007). In comparison, Egypt and Indonesia spent 8 and 5 percent of their GDP on energy subsidies, respectively. Similarly in Brazil – it would cost only 0.4 percent of their GDP on energy subsidies, respectively. Similarly in Brazil – it would cost only 0.4 percent of their and the Brazilian government is using ten times as much resources to cover the deficit of the national pension scheme that deliver 50 percent of the benefits to the richest 20 percent of the population. Looking at the costs of cash transfer programs relative to other expenditures of poor countries, like military expenditures and industry development, there is no reason to argue that the countries cannot afford these programs – it is only a matter of prioritization.

The evidence on old age pension systems indicates that also universal programs are affordable in poor countries. Nepal has since 1995 maintained a universal non-means tested old age pension, while Bolivia started its scheme in 1997. For these two countries and the six other developing countries that have universal old age pension systems, plus Mexico City, we find a range of government spending on transfers to the aged from 0.1 % of GDP (in Nepal) to 1.7 % (in Mauritius) (Willmore 2007). Adding the budgetary outlays these countries have on other cash transfer schemes to promote social protection, to disabled, widows, orphans and others, and comparing it with other government expenditure in developing countries, it is clear that it is a

• political priority and not affordability that determine whether poor countries implement universal pension systems in particular, and broad cash transfers in general.

One issue worth considering in the discussion is whether governments' resources in many low income countries are best spent on providing basic public services to all (Schubert and Slater 2006). Willmore (2007) argues that universal pensions systems are complementary to public services, and that reducing less prioritized government expenditures has proven feasible to get such pension systems in place in poor countries. The complementarity argument applies to cash transfers more generally as these schemes can make it possible for poor people to access basic services.

#### Are cash transfer programs sustainable?

The implementation capacity of the recipient could be too weak to sustain the program after the donor withdraws from the project. This is particularly a challenge in the poorest countries where even the least advanced public programs suffer from poor implementation (Schubert and Slater 2006). This challenge is particularly evident for the more complex CCTs, which also require a great coordination effort across several ministries. Hence, it is vital that a cash transfer program is tailored to the administrative capacity and competence of the recipient country.

The evidence indicates that in order for a cash transfer program to be implemented in an effective manner, there has to be high-level political support of the program. This is even more important for the CCTs where cooperation and coordination between several ministries is necessary. The ministries of health, education and finance, and often even other ministries, needs to be involved in these programs. Complicated procedures adds to the challenge of having political accept for the program. Experiences from Mexico show that the PROGRESA survived several changes of government - both in 2000 and in 2006. Yaschine and Oronzco (2008) note that the program survived in 2006 due to a political consensus of the impartiality of the targeting method, the effectiveness of its operation, positive evaluation results and popularity among the electorate. The Nicaraguan RPS, on the other hand, was closed in 2006. This was due to lack of political support and occurred despite the fact that it had demonstrated high impact. The literature also points to the fact that fine targeting of antipoverty programs may undermine its support (Ravallion 2007).

In the poorest countries where CCTs have been financed through loans, fiscal sustainability remains a concern. Handa and Davis (2006) find that the PRAF II in Honduras, which has been supported through soft loans from the IDB, will probably continue to rely on international lending. This, they argue, will probably postpone the Government's decision to fund the programme permanently. Similarly, Columbia's program is also funded by international finance institutions' lending, through IDB and the World Bank. The potential for financial sustainability is less clear than in Honduras' case (Handa and Davis 2006).

Finally, it is worth noting that political considerations have contributed to the rapid expansion of conditional cash transfer programs. Around 20 countries mostly in Latin America have now adopted a CCT in one form or another, and approximately 20 more are considering to implement one (Adato and Hoddinott 2007). It seems to be more popular among governments to provide conditional transfers as opposed to unconditional as the former can be seen as an energetic initiative to lift people out of poverty in the short and the long run, while the latter may be viewed as a passive handout that may segment existing inequalities. This difference is even enlarged by the fact that the conditional transfer programs usually require the recipients to use some public services that are intended to increase their human capital. As improved human capital is singled out in the poverty-reduction debate as a major prerequisite for breaking the transmission of poverty from one generation to another, the conditional cash transfer programs have been attributed a central role for long-term development in many Latin American and Caribbean countries. Hence, politicians may be evaluated on basic performance indicators like school enrolment and health clinic usage, and conditioning the cash transfer on such behavior may therefore give positive results in the medium term that may help them stay in office. This does not imply, however, that CCTs will be embraced by governments in other developing countries. Schubert and Slater (2006) notes that a government's perception of CCTs probably will depend on how its electorate view poverty. If poverty is seen as a result of individual failure rather than lack of opportunity, as is found in Latin America, then CCTs may be more popular among the voters since these programs "force" the recipients to get on track for long-term poverty reduction.

## 7 Summary of Evaluation Findings

The positive experiences with the CCTs in Latin America have lead to the recommendation that conditional cash transfer programs should be promoted. However, our synthesis suggest that these recommendations may be premature since there neither is much knowledge about the critical factors that have led to the positive results that have been recorded, nor is it clear whether these programs can keep poor families in poverty traps because they create disincentives to work. The latter point is straightforward in that targeting benefits to the poorest imply that these will lose the benefit if they increase their income above the threshold. Hence, it may be better for poor people not to work in order to keep the benefit. Finally, the context under which conditional cash transfers have brought positive results in Latin America is very different from the context in the areas where such assistance now is planned, like in Sub-Saharan Africa.

The main findings from the evaluation literature can be summarized as follows:

- In areas suffering from humanitarian crisis, insufficient food supply and poor connection to nearby markets should not be considered for cash transfer programs. In-kind food assistance would be more effective in reducing the hardship.
- Giving vulnerable households cash transfers may help to preserve their asset base and increase their future incomes through reductions of distress renting out of land or out-migration, help households pool savings, and allow farmers to sell their crops when prices are high and to buy seeds or livestock so that they could start work again. Some also invest some of the cash in productive activity and hence contribute to long term poverty reduction.
- Cash transfers may be more prone to corruption and elite capture than in-kind assistance, and CCTs even more than the UCTs as the certification induced by conditionality gives the opportunity for dishonest bureaucrats to take bribes.
- Different models of arranging cash transfers to children have broadly similar effects on poverty, and it is effective to target children to reach the poor in many developing countries.
- Effectiveness of the cash transfer interventions depends to a large degree on the size of the transfers and program coverage. A common feature of African cash transfer programs excluding pension systems is that they usually reach very few beneficiaries in comparison to the actual size of the group.
- Conditioning cash transfers on use of public services may decrease the welfare of a household in comparison to an unconditional cash transfer.
- Several requirements need to be in place before CCTs can be considered: The public service that the CCT is conditioned upon must be functioning, safe, accessible and have to have capacity to include new participants. The administrative capacity and skills must be at the required level to handle complex procedures. The reasons for non-participation in the public services need to be investigated.
- Cash transfers to the mother improve the wellbeing of her children more than cash given to men, improve her status and reduce tensions in the household.
- The World Bank experience suggests that UCTs tend to have lower administrative costs than other social assistance programs. However, the total costs of CCTs in Latin America are not higher than unconditional programs in that region. The costs vary substantially across programs and can be adjusted in line with the perceived need for monitoring.
- An important drawback of applying conditionality is that if it is too difficult for the intended beneficiaries to comply with the requirements, then they will be excluded from the program. Many CCTs do not reach the most vulnerable by design. As vulnerable groups are of major concern for Norwegian aid, the implications of conditionality should be carefully assessed before embarking on these types of programs.

- Means testing, which is the most common mechanism used to curb pension spending in developing countries with non-contributory pension systems, is found to be costly and riddled with errors of inclusion and exclusion.
- Targeting performance may not yield relevant information about program performance and degree of poverty reduction. Targeting can induce poverty traps where the beneficiaries do not have any incentives to improve their situation. These costs can be very high and are seldom included in the calculations on the efficiency of targeting. This implies that broad targeting and universal programs are to be preferred from an efficiency point of view as more poverty can be prevented for a given budget. This is important for Norwegian development cooperation as poverty reduction is the overarching aim of this assistance.
- Universal and broad targeted cash transfer programs are affordable, easier to implement and monitor and sustainable for all developing countries it is a matter of political will.
- The main outputs from the CCT when it comes to school enrolment rates, reduced school drop-out and improved health clinic attendance are rather impressive. Conditionality may be important in explaining the positive results of CCTs, but it is not measured against other relevant interventions.
- There seems to be positive effects on nutrition from the CCT, although the exact mechanism through which the program affects behavior is not known.
- Many CCTs have contributed to improved status of women, but more could have been achieved if gender had been included in the overall program design. The same could have been achieved in an unconditional program if designed accordingly. As women's rights is one of the major aims for Norwegian development cooperation, this is certainly an area where Norway can contribute in future designs of cash transfer projects.
- Another point worth considering for Norwegian development cooperation is to make sure that new universal and broad targeted cash transfer programs have similar monitoring and evaluation designs as the CCTs. Results from rigorous impact evaluation tends to get most attention in the international debate, and much of the popularity of fine-tuned conditional programs stems from this evidence.

## References

Abdulai, A., C. B. Barrett and J. Hoddinott (2005): "Does Food Aid Really Have Inventive Effects? New Evidence from Sub-Saharan Africa", *World Development*, 33(19), 1689-1704.

Adato, M. and J. Hoddinott (2007): "Conditional Cash Transfer Programs. A "Magic Bullet" for Reducing Poverty?", 2020 Focus Brief, IFPRI, Washington D.C.

Adato, M. and J. Hoddinott (2008): Conditional Cash Transfer Programs. A "Magic Bullet" for Reducing Poverty? Unpublished book manuscript, IFPRI, Washington D.C.

Adato, M. and T. Roopnaraine (2008): "Women's Status, Gender Relations, and Conditional Cash Transfer", in Adato, M. and J. Hoddinott (eds.) *Conditional Cash Transfer Programs. A "Magic Bullet" for Reducing Poverty*?. Unpublished book manuscript, IFPRI, Washington D.C.

Alderman H., and J. Hoddinott (2007): "Growth-Promoting Social Safety Nets", 2020 Focus Brief, IFPRI, Washington D.C.

Ardington, L., and F. Lund (1994): "Pensions and Development: The Social Security System as a Complementary Track to Programs of Reconstruction and Development. University of Natal, Durban, South Africa.

Barrett, C. B., (2006): "Food Aid's Intended and Unintended Consequenses", The UN Food and Agriculture Organization ESA Working Paper 06-05.

Barrientos A. and J. DeJong (2006): "Reducing Child Poverty with Cash Transfers: A Sure Thing?", *Development Policy Review* 24(5), 537-552.

Behrman J. and Parker S. W. (2008):" The Impact of Conditional Cash Transfer Programs on Education", in Adato and Hoddinott, eds., (2008).

Behrman, J., P. Sengupta and P. Todd (2002): "Progressing through PROGESA: An Impact Assessment of a School Subsidy Experiment in Mexico," mimeo, University of Pennsylvania.

Belsey T. and R. Kanbur (1993): "Principles of Targeting", in M. Lipton and J. van der Gaag (eds.) *Including the Poor*. The World Bank, Washington D.C.

Caldés, N., D. Coady, and J. Maluccio (2006): "The Cost of Poverty Alleviation Transfer Programs: A Comparative Analysis of three Programs in Latin America", *World Development* 34 (5): 818-837.

Carvalho, I. (2000) "Household Income as a Determinant of Child Labour and School Enrolment in Brazil: Evidence from a Social Security Reform", *mimeo*, MIT: Cambridge, MA.

Caldés, N., D. Coady, and J. Maluccio (2008): The Cost of Poverty Alleviation Transfer Programs: A Comparative Analysis of Three Programs in Latin America, in Adato and Hoddinott eds. (2008).

Case, A. (2001). Does money protect health? Evidence from South African pensions. NBER Working paper 84195.

Coady, D. P., M. Grosh and J. Hoddinott (2004): "Targeting Outcomes Redux", *World Bank Research Observer*, 19(1), 61-85.

Cox, D., E. Galasso and E. Jimenez (2006): "Demographic Private Transfers in a Cross Section of Developing Countries", Working paper 2006-1. Chestnut Hill, MA: Center for Retirement Research at Boston College.

de la Brière, B. and L. B. Rawlings (2006). Examining conditional cash transfer programs: A role for increased social inclusion? *Social Safety Net Primer Series*. World Bank: Washington, DC

de Brauw, A. and J. Hoddinott (2008): "Must Conditional Cash Transfer Programs be Conditioned to be Effective? The Impact of Conditioning Cash Transfers on School Enrollment in Mexico", *IFPRI Discussion Paper* 00757.

Devereux S. and R. Sabates-Wheeler (2007):"Editorial Introduction: Debating Social Protection", *IDS Bulletin* 38(3), 1-7.

Devereux S., J. Marshall, J. MacAskill and L. Pelham, (2005): "Making Cash Count", Joint report from Save the Children UK, HelpAge International and Institute of Development Studies. Available at:

www.helpage.org/Resources/Researchreports/main content/bfT7/MakingCashCount.pdf

DFID (2006): "Social Protection in Poor Countries", Social Protection Briefing Note Series, No.1.

Duflo, E. (2003): "Grandmothers and Granddaughters: Old Age Pension and Intra-Household Allocation in South Africa", *World Bank Economic Review*, 17 (1), 1-25.

Farrington, J., P. Deshingkar, C. Johnson and D. Start (2006): *Rural Livelihood Futures: Concepts and Evidence from India*. Dehli and Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Farrington, J. and R. Slater (eds.) (2006): "Theme Issue: Cash Transfers", *Policy Development Review*, 24 (5).

Freelander, N. (2007): "Superfluous, pernicious, atrocious and abominable? The Case against Conditional Cash Transfers", *IDS Bulletin* 38 (3): 75-78.

Gertler, P. (2004): "Do conditional cash transfers improve child health? Evidence from PROGRESA's control randomized experiment", *American Economic Review Papers and Proceedings*, 94(2), 336-41.

Haddad, L., J. Hoddinott and H. Alderman (eds.) (1997): *Intrahousehold Resource Allocation in Developing Countries*. Baltimore, MD and London: Johns Hopkins University Press.

Handa, S. and B. Davis (2006): "Conditional Cash Transfers in Latin America and the Caribbean", *Development Policy Review* 24(5), 513-536.

Harvey, P. (ed.) 2006: "Special issue: Cash Transfers", *Journal of Disaster Studies, Policy and Management*, vol. 30 (3).

Hoddinott J. and L. Haddad (1995): "Does Female Income Share Influence Household expenditures – Evidence from Cote d'Ivoire", *Oxford Bulleting of Economics and Statistics*, 57 (1), 77-96.

Hoddinott, J. and E. Skoufias, 2004, "The Impact of PROGRESA on Food Consumption," *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 53(1): 37-61.

Johnstone, K. (2004): "Reducing Risk and Vulnerability: The Role of Social Protection Pro-poor Growth", in Handbook on Social Protection. Reaching the Very Poorest. DFID; London.

Lloyd-Sherlock, P. (2000). Old age and poverty in developing countries: new policy challenges. World Development, 28(12), 2157–2168.

Maluccio, J., and R. Flores (2005): *Impact Evaluation of a Conditional Cash Transfer Program: The Nicaraguan Red de Protección Social*. Research Report 141. Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute.

Martinelli, C., and S. W. Parker (2003): "Should Transfers to Poor Families be Conditional on School Attendance: A Household Bargaining Approach", *International Economic Review* 44, 523-544.

Mattinen and Ogden (2006):"Cash-based Interventions: Lessons from Southern Somalia", Journal of Disaster Studies, Policy and Management, vol. 30 (3), 297-315.

Medeiros, M., T. Britto and F. Soares (2006): "Targeted Cash Transfer Programmes in Brazil: BPC and the Bolsa Familia", UNDP, International Poverty Centre Working Paper 46.

Molyneux, M. (2007): "Two cheers for CCTs", IDS Bulletin 38 (3): 69-74.

Morley S. and D. Coady (2003): *From Social Assistance to Social Development*. Center for Global Development and International Food Policy Institute. Washington DC.

Palacios, R. J., and S. I. Rajan (2004) Safety nets for the elderly in poor countries: the case of Nepal. Pension Reform Primer. World Bank: Washington D.C.

Parker, S. W., L. Rubalcava and G. Teruel (2008): *Evaluating Conditional Schooling and Health Programs.* In T. P. Schultz and J. Strauss: Handbook of Development Economics. Volume 4. North-Holland, Amsterdam.

Ravallion, M. (2007): "How Relevant is Targeting to the Success of an Antipoverty Program?", World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 4385, Washington D.C.

Schady, N., and M. Araujo (2006): "Cash transfers, conditions, school enrollment and child work: Evidence from a randomized experiment in Ecuador", *World Bank Policy Research Paper* 3930. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.

Schubert, B. and R. Slater (2006): "Social cash transfers in low-income African countries", *Development Policy Review*, 24(5), pp. 571-578.

Schultz, T. P, (2004): "School Subsidies for the Poor: Evaluating the Mexican PROGRESA Poverty Program," *Journal of Development Economics*, 74(1): 199-250.

Schubert and Goldberg (2004):"The Pilot Social Cash transfer Scheme Kalomo District – Zambia", available at hdr.undp.org/docs/events/global\_forum/2005/papers/Jorg\_Goldberg.pdf

Standing, G. (2007): "Conditional Cash Transfers: Why targeting and Conditionalities Could Fail", UNDP, International Poverty Centre, One Pager no. 47.

Van de Walle (1998): Targeting Revisited", World Bank Research Observer, 13 (2): 231-248.

Willmore, L. (2007): "Universal Pensions for Developing Countries", *World Development*, 35 (1), 24-51.

World Bank (2008): http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/TOPICS/ EXTSOCIALPROTECTION/EXTSAFETYNETSANDTRANSFERS/0,,contentMDK:2077 4268~menuPK:282766~pagePK:148956~piPK:216618~theSitePK:282761,00.html

Yaschine, I. and M. Orozco (2008): *The Evolving Antipoverty Agenda in Mexico: The Political Economy of PROGRESA and Oportunidades,* in Adato and Hoddinott (eds) (2008).

#### **EVALUATION REPORTS**

- Evaluation of the Norwegian Junior Expert Programme withUN 2.94 Organisations
- 1.95 Technical Cooperation in Transition Evaluering av FN-sambandet i Norge
- 2.95 3.95 NGOs as a Channel in Development aid
- 3A.95 Rapport fra Presentasjonsmøte av «Evalueringen av de Frivillige **Organisasioner**»
- 4.95 Rural Development and Local Government in Tanzania
- Integration of Environmental Concerns into Norwegian Bilateral 5.95 Development Assistance: Policies and Performance
- 1.96 NORAD's Support of the Remote Area Development Programme (RADP) in Botswana
- 2.96 Norwegian Development Aid Experiences, A Review of Evaluation Studies 1986-92
- 3.96 The Norwegian People's Aid Mine Clearance Project in Cambodia Democratic Global Civil Governance Report of the 1995 Benchmark 4.96
- Survey of NGOs 5.96 Evaluation of the Yearbook "Human Rights in Developing Countries"
- 1.97 Evaluation of Norwegian Assistance to Prevent and Control HIV/AIDS
- «Kultursjokk og Korrektiv» Evaluering av UD/NORADs Studiereiser 2.97 for Lærere
- 3.97 Evaluation of Decentralisation and Development Evaluation of Norwegian Assistance to Peace, Reconciliation and 4.97
- Rehabilitation in Mozambigue 5 97 Aid to Basic Education in Africa – Opportunities and Constraints
- 6.97 Norwegian Church Aid's Humanitarian and Peace-Making Work in Mali
- 7.97 Aid as a Tool for Promotion of Human Rights and Democracy: What can Norway do?
- Evaluation of the Nordic Africa Institute, Uppsala 8.97
- Evaluation of Norwegian Assistance to Worldview 9.97 InternationalFoundation
- 10.97 Review of Norwegian Assistance to IPS
- 11.97 Evaluation of Norwegian Humanitarian Assistance to the Sudan
- 12.97 Cooperation for Health DevelopmentWHO's Support to Programmes at Country Level
- "Twinning for Development". Institutional Cooperation between 1.98 Public Institutions in Norway and the South
- Institutional Cooperation between Sokoine and Norwegian 2.98 Agricultural Universities
- 3.98 Development through Institutions? Institutional Development Promoted by Norwegian Private Companies and Consulting Firms 4.98
- Development through Institutions? Institutional Development Promoted by Norwegian Non-Governmental Organisations Development through Institutions? Institutional Developmentin 5.98
- Norwegian Bilateral Assistance. Synthesis Report 6.98 Managing Good Fortune - Macroeconomic Management and the Role of Aid in Botswana
- 7.98 The World Bank and Poverty in Africa
- Evaluation of the Norwegian Program for Indigenous Peoples 8.98
- 9.98
- Evaluering av Informasjons støtten til RORGene Strategy for Assistance to Children in Norwegian Development 10.98 Cooperation
- 11.98 Norwegian Assistance to Countries in Conflict
- 12.98 Evaluation of the Development Cooperation between Norway and Nicaragua
- 13.98 UNICEF-komiteen i Norge
- 14.98 Relief Work in Complex Emergencies
- WID/Gender Units and the Experience of Gender Mainstreaming in 1.99 Multilateral Organisations
- 2.99 International Planned Parenthood Federation – Policy and Effectiveness at Country and Regional Levels
- Evaluation of Norwegian Support to Psycho-Social Projects in Bosnia-3.99 Herzegovina and the Caucasus
- Evaluation of the Tanzania-Norway Development 4.99 Cooperation1994-1997
- 5.99 Building African Consulting Capacity
- Aid and Conditionality 6.99
- Policies and Strategies for Poverty Reduction in Norwegian 7.99 Development Aid
- 8.99 Aid Coordination and Aid Effectiveness
- Evaluation of the United Nations Capital Development Fund (UNCDF) 9.99 10.99 Evaluation of AWEPA, The Association of European Parliamentarians
- for Africa, and AEI, The African European Institute 1.00
- Review of Norwegian Health-related Development Cooperation1988-1997
- 2.00 Norwegian Support to the Education Sector. Overview of Policies and Trends 1988-1998
- 3.00 The Project "Training for Peace in Southern Africa" En kartlegging av erfaringer med norsk bistand gjennomfrivillige 4.00 organisasjoner 1987–1999
- 5.00 Evaluation of the NUFU programme
- Making Government Smaller and More Efficient.The Botswana Case Evaluation of the Norwegian Plan of Action for Nuclear Safety 6.00 7.00
- Priorities, Organisation, Implementation
- 8.00 Evaluation of the Norwegian Mixed Credits Programme
- 9.00 "Norwegians? Who needs Norwegians?" Explaining the Oslo Back Channel: Norway's Political Past in the Middle East

- 10.00 Taken for Granted? An Evaluation of Norway's Special Grant for the Environment
- Evaluation of the Norwegian Human Rights Fund 1.01
- Economic Impacts on the Least Developed Countries of the 2.01 Elimination of Import Tariffs on their Products
- 3.01 Evaluation of the Public Support to the Norwegian NGOs Working in Nicaragua 1994–1999
- 3A.01 Evaluación del Apoyo Público a las ONGs Noruegas que Trabajan en Nicaragua 1994–1999
- The International Monetary Fund and the World Bank Cooperation on 4.01 Poverty Reduction
- Evaluation of Development Co-operation between Bangladesh and Norway,  $1995{-}2000\,$ 5.01
- 6.01 Can democratisation prevent conflicts? Lessons from sub-Saharan Africa
- 7.01 Reconciliation Among Young People in the Balkans An Evaluation of the Post Pessimist Network
- 1 02 Evaluation of the Norwegian Resource Bank for Democracyand Human Rights (NORDEM)
- 2.02 Evaluation of the International Humanitarian Assistance of theNorwegian Red Cross
- 3.02 Evaluation of ACOPAMAn ILO program for "Cooperative and Organizational Support to Grassroots Initiatives" in Western Africa 1978 - 1999
- 3A.02 Évaluation du programme ACOPAMUn programme du BIT sur l'« Appui associatif et coopératif auxInitiatives de Développement à la Base » en Afrique del'Ouest de 1978 à 1999
- 4.02 Legal Aid Against the Odds Evaluation of the Civil Rights Project (CRP) of the Norwegian Refugee Council in former Yugoslavia
- 1.03 Evaluation of the Norwegian Investment Fund for Developing Countries (Norfund)
- Evaluation of the Norwegian Education Trust Fund for Africain the 2.03 World Bank
- 3.03 Evaluering av Bistandstorgets Evalueringsnettverk
- Towards Strategic Framework for Peacebuilding: Getting Their Act 1.04 Togheter. Overview Report of the Joint Utstein Study of the Peacebuilding.
- 2.04 Norwegian peacebuilding policies: Lessons Learnt and Challenges Ahead
- Evaluation of CESAR's activities in the Middle East Funded by 3.04 Norway
- 4.04 Evaluering av ordningen med støtte gjennom paraplyorganiasajoner. Eksemplifisert ved støtte til Norsk Misjons Bistandsnemda og Atlasalliansen
- 5.04 Study of the impact of the work of FORUT in Sri Lanka: Building CivilSociety
- Study of the impact of the work of Save the Children Norway in 6.04 Ethiopia: Building Civil Society
- -Study: Study of the impact of the work of FORUT in Sri Lanka and 1 05 Save the Children Norway in Ethiopia: Building Civil Society -Evaluation: Evaluation of the Norad Fellowship Programme
- 1.05
- 2.05 -Evaluation: Women Can Do It - an evaluation of the WCDI
- programme in the Western Balkans 3.05 Gender and Development - a review of evaluation report
- 1997-2004 4.05 Evaluation of the Framework Agreement between the Government of
- Norway and the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) Evaluation of the "Strategy for Women and Gender Equality 5.05
- inDevelopment Cooperation (1997-2005)'
- Inter-Ministerial Cooperation. An Effective Model for Capacity 1.06 Development?
- Evaluation of Fredskorpset 2.06
- Synthesis Report: Lessons from Evaluations of Women and 1.06 Gender Equality in Development Cooperation
- 1.07 Evaluation of the Norwegian Petroleum-Related Assistance
- Synteserapport: Humanitær innsats ved naturkatastrofer:En 1.07 syntese av evalueringsfunn
- 1.07 - Study: The Norwegian International Effort against Female Genital Mutilation
- 2.07 Evaluation of Norwegian Power-related Assistance
- 2.07 - Study Development Cooperation through Norwegian NGOs in South America
- 3.07 Evaluation of the Effects of the using M-621 Cargo Trucks in Humanitarian Transport Operations
- 4.07 Evaluation of Norwegian Development Support to Zambia (1991 - 2005)
- Evaluation of the Development Cooperation to Norwegion NGOs in 5.07 Guatemala
- Evaluations of the Norwegian Emergency Preparedness System 1.08 (NOREPS)
- 1.08 Study: The challenge of Assessing Aid Impact: A review of NorwegianEvaluation Practise
- Synthesis Study on Best Practise and Innovative Approaches to 1.08 Capasity Development in Low Income African Countries
- Joint Evaluation of the Trust Fund for Enviromentally and Socially 2.08 Sustainable Development (TFESSD)
- 3.08 Mid-term Evaluation the EEA Grants
- 4.08 Evaluation of Norwegian HIV/AIDS responses

#### Norad

Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation

P.O.Box 8034 Dep, NO-0030 Oslo Visiting adress: Ruseløkkveien 26, Oslo, Norway

Telephone: +47 22 24 20 30 Fax: +47 22 24 20 31 Postmottak@norad.no www.norad.no

No. of Copies: 300 October 2008 ISBN 978-82-7548-334-6